# Assessing local adaptations in a widespread forest fungus by *in vitro* growth experiments

Tor Arne Justad



Master of Science Thesis

Department of Bioscience

UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

15.06.2020

© Tor Arne Justad

2020

Assessing local adaptations in a widespread forest fungus by in vitro growth experiments

Tor Arne Justad

http://www.duo.uio.no/

Trykk: Reprosentralen, Universitetet i Oslo

# Abstract

Climate change is altering many aspects of local selection regimes. Which aspects of changing environments causing the strongest selective force, differ widely across species. Strong climatic and topographical heterogeneity makes Norway an ideal area to study the relative importance of environmental factors potentially decisive for local adaptation. The main aim of this study is therefore to investigate to which extent climatic variability and habitat (substrate) requirements lead to evolution of local adaptation in the widespread and ecologically important wood-decay fungus *Fomitopsis pinicola*.

By testing specific hypotheses aimed to evaluate the ability for local adaptation in *F. pinicola*, this study found that different responses to abiotic factors can be linked to local climate. Further, sporocarps sampled from the two most common hosts, *Alnus incana* and *Picea abies* revealed significantly different rate of decay when comparing mass loss of wood chips made from *A. incana* and *P. abies*. The relationship between growth and decay was negatively correlated, indicative of an underlying trade-off. Thus, this study suggests that climatic variation and substrate requirements affects the phenotype of *F. pinicola*.

# Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my main supervisor Håvard Kauserud and co-supervisors Inger Skrede, Sundy Maurice and Jørn Henrik Sønstebø. for giving me the opportunity to work on this project. Without your help, encouragement and feedback while working on the manuscript, this master thesis could might as well been singed Jack Torrance.

Malin Stapnes Dahl for all the help and guidance in the lab and support in general. Dabao Lu for being a source of inspiration, and always having an answer ready when needed. Roy Falleth for delivering a steady stream of spotless MEA even on short notice. And to my friends and fellow office mates; thanks for all the help and conversations.

My old mates Tormod Gundersen and Magnus Reisfelt for making an education seem worthwhile. Without you, the journey toward a degree would never have started.

And of course, Klaus Høiland. Thank you for introducing me to mycology and for all the wonderfully weird conversations we had from the very first day and throughout my time as a biology student. Because of you, my sky has changed from grey to blue. But blue's not just a color of the rainbow. It's shade is not a hazy hue. But pure and hard, my blue sky blue. It's like a Roman candle coming rosebuds. Blue rosebuds.

Lastly, a special thanks to Miriam Landa. Thank you so much for all the support and your ability to withstand my sometimes not easily approachable mind. You are an absolute gem!

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	.III
Acknowledgements	V
Table of Contents	VII
1 Introduction	1
2 Materials and methods	5
2.1 Sampling	5
2.2 Culture isolation	6
2.3 Growth at different temperatures	7
2.4 Growth at different moisture levels	7
2.5 Decay rate at different substrates	7
2.6 Competitive ability	8
2.7 Statistical analysis	8
3 Results	.10
3.1 Local adaptation to abiotic factors	.10
3.2 Local adaptation to biotic factors	.11
4 Discussion	.15
4.1 Local adaptation to different temperatures	.15
4.2 Local adaptation to different moisture levels	.16
4.3 Adaptation to effective decay of either conifer or deciduous woody substrates	.17
4.4 Trade-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition	.19
4.5 Local adaptation towards combative abilities	.20
4.6 Local adaptation or non-genetic effects?	.20
References	.22

## **1** Introduction

Local natural selection is partly driven by climate (Pecl et al. 2017). Consequently, a change in climate can alter local selection regimes by affecting timing of growth and reproduction among species across a manifold of ecosystems (Hughes 2000, Radchuk et al. 2019). A consequence causing substantial redistribution of species at both local and regional scales (Pecl et al. 2017). How species are affected by changing environmental conditions are largely dependent on their ability to adapt or migrate (Olson-Manning et al. 2012). Adaptation to changing selective regimes, depends on pre-existing genetic variation and new mutations that confer advantageous alleles when spread across the population by natural selection (Olson-Manning et al. 2012). If an organism lack the ability to adapt, local extinction may be prevented by migration to new habitats with similar ecological niches as their original habitat (Aitken et al. 2008). However, the speed and magnitude of climate change affect species differently (Hendry et al. 2008). Understanding how species locally adapt to their current environment, is therefore crucial for predicting the magnitude of the ongoing redistribution of species (Hendry et al. 2008). Local adaptation has been studied mainly for plants through laboratory, greenhouse, field common garden and reciprocal transplant experiments, revealing, in many cases, strong evidence of local adaptation (Baughman et al. 2019). However, for plant-associated organisms, like fungi, very little is known about their ability to adapt to the changing climate.

Fungi influence almost every aspect of terrestrial ecosystem functioning (Treseder and Lennon 2015). As the dominant decomposers of organic plant material, fungi have a direct effect on the global carbon and nutrient dynamics (Baldrian et al. 2014). Considering the estimation of more than 70 Pg carbon to be stocked in dead wood worldwide (Pan et al. 2011), understanding relationships between basidiomycete community dynamics and wood decay is crucial for predicting future ecosystem functions under environmental change (Baldrian et al. 2014). Given that different fungi process organic matter at different rates, the composition of fungi in an area can affect the overall functioning of the ecosystem (Treseder and Lennon 2015). This composition of fungal communities is in part driven by climate, as well as other environmental characteristics (van der Wal et al. 2006). Hence, a change in climate can potentially affect the local-scale fungi community, which in turn may alter the overall functioning of the ecosystem. For example, different moisture and temperature conditions, are argued to potentially prolong autumn seasons and reduce snow cover in winter

seasons, which directly affects the rate of annual decomposition and production of sporocarps (Piao et al. 2008). However, different functional groups of fungi are expected to have different responses to these environmental changes (Crowther et al. 2014).

In temperate regions the red-belted bracket fungus F. pinicola (Fig.1) is widespread and ecologically important for decomposing logs or standing dead trees (Ryvarden and Gilbertson 1993). In Norway, as well as other parts of Europe, it has a continuous distribution and as one of few wood-decay fungi, it grows on both conifers (e.g. Picea abies and Pinus sylvestris) as well as deciduous trees (e.g. Alnus incana and Betula pubescens) (Högberg et al. 1999). A widespread distribution combined with large and perennial sporocarps make the species a perfect target for wide sampling efforts. The strong climatic and topographical heterogeneity (Fig. 1) makes Norway an ideal study area for assessing the relative importance of environmental factors potentially decisive for local adaptation. Although previous studies have shown that F. pinicola is a fully outcrossing species with little genetic differentiation among Scandinavian populations, these studies do however only consider neutral genetic variation. Hence, in traits and loci selected for (adaptive) the situation might be different. To investigate whether the heterogeneity in the study area has led to adaptation to varying climatic conditions, specific hypotheses on climate-related adaptations will be tested in a series of common garden experiments. The main aim of this study is therefore to investigate the extent climatic variability and habitat (substrate) requirements lead to evolution of local adaptation in F. pinicola.

Previous studies have shown that there is an underlying trade-off between growth rate, stress tolerance and competitive abilities linked to different environment (Maynard et al. 2019, Lustenhouwer et al. 2020). For instance, habitats characterized by relatively warm and rainy seasons, like the tropics, typically select for fungi with low stress tolerance but rapid growth enhancing competitive abilities (Maynard et al. 2019). On the contrary, in more temperate climates, selection will typically favor dense hyphal growth, enhancing stress tolerance at the expense of competitive abilities. These trends have been primarily studied at broad geographical scale, however, the extensive variation in temperature and precipitation in Norway give reasons to assume that similar patterns can occur on local scale as well. Although conceptual frameworks for categorization of trade-off between life history traits, such as Grimes C-S-R theory, are historically more frequently applied by botanists than mycologists, Grime himself suggested life history traits for fungi to follow similar patterns as

plants (Grime 1977). Here: rapid growth and effective rate of decay align with R-selection (Ruderal strategy), dense mycelium and prevalent rhizomorphs for C-selection in low stress environments (Competitors strategy), and slow growth with high stress tolerance for S-selection in highly fluctuating environments (Stress tolerant strategy) (Grime 1977). Hence, approaching potential for local adaptation, may benefit from considering general trade-off patterns, as varying environmental factors may represent different degrees of selective force amongst different strategist. Thus, the climatic variation in the study area may affect the costs and benefits associated with life history trade-offs differently. I therefore hypothesize that the climatic variation in the study area has led to local adaptations in growth rates and stress-tolerance in *F. pinicola* (Hypothesis1; H1). To test this, dikaryotic strains isolated from sporocarp tissue of *F. pinicola*, sampled from *P. abies* across a variety of climatic locations in Norway, will be used to study whether growth rates at different conditions of temperature and water potential varies across populations and to which extent this can be linked to local climate.

Most wood-decay fungi occur strictly on either coniferous or deciduous host trees and hence, have adapted to the biochemical composition and wood structure of their group of host trees. However, as one of few wood-decay fungi, *F. pinicola* can decay both coniferous and deciduous hosts. I therefore hypothesize that there is an adaptation towards effective decay of either conifer or deciduous wood substrates (H2). To identify adaptation to substrate, strains isolated from sporocarp tissue sampled from *A. incana* and *P. abies* will be set to decay wood chips made from: *A. incana* and *P. abies*, the two most common hosts.

Several studies have shown a relationship between growth and decay, either positively or negatively correlated (Zheng et al. 2018, Lustenhouwer et al. 2020). At the genetic level, functional genes regulating decomposition (specifically breakdown of cellulose and lignin) are shown negatively associated with genes promoting stress tolerance (Treseder and Lennon 2015, Zheng et al. 2018). Hence, the correlation between growth and decay, may shift either way, dependent on how stress-tolerant a given fungi may be. Given that fungi in temperate regions are shown more stress-tolerant than in the tropics (Maynard et al. 2019), I hypothesize that: *F. pinicola* is trading-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition (H3).

Since trade-off between stress-tolerance and competitive abilities is environment-dependent (Maynard et al. 2019), I hypothesize that the competitive ability of *F. pinicola* varies between locations (H4). The competitive ability of *F. pinicola* will be compared across different

populations, by confronting the mycelia of *F. pinicola* against four polypore species (*Pycnoporellus fulgens, Antrodiella citronella, Fomitopsis rosea* and *Phellopilus nigrolimitatus*), that co-exist with *F. pinicola* in boreal forests.

By measuring growth rates at different temperatures and water potential levels, wood decay rates on different substrates, competitive ability, and estimating subsequent correlations between growth and decay. I aim to reveal, whether local adaptions affect the phenotype of *F*. *pinicola* in a common garden experiment.

## 2 Materials and methods

## 2.1 Sampling

I collected field samples in nine different locations in Norway (Fig. 1) representing a wide climatic range, from the wettest/warmest to the driest/coldest areas, where both hosts *A*. *incana* and *P. abies* are present. The sampling locations were selected based on differences in annual mean temperature and precipitation, downloaded from WorldClim database (Hijmans et al. 2005) at 2.5 min resolution.



**Figure 1**: (A) Average annual precipitation (mm) in Norway is shown on the left-side map and annual mean temperature (°C) on the right-side map. The black dots indicate the nine sampling locations. (b) Sporocarps of *Fomitopsis pinicola*.

In each location, eight sporocarps were sampled within an area of  $200 \text{ m}^2$ , four on *A. incana* and four on *P. abies*, altogether 72 sporocarps. When possible, sporocarps were collected on different logs. In locations with insufficient logs, two sporocarps were sampled on the same log as far apart as possible. All sampled sporocarps were stored in paper bags at 4 °C until processing (i.e. culturing), then dried for long-term storage.

Locations	Latitude	Longitude	Annual mean temperature (°C)	Annual precipitation (mm)
Vinterbro (Vi)	59.75219	6.99402	5.84	945
Voss (Vo)	60.6696	6.332595	1.58	2061
Valdres (Va)	61.07567	9.11683	2.03	733
Brekke (Br)	61.37271	5.37271	3.01	2805
Loen (Lo)	61.78089	6.99402	4.14	1438
Beverfjorden (Be)	62.97926	8.88054	3.79	1410
Haltdalen (Ha)	62.89283	11.18758	0.57	787
Orkanger (Or)	63.27966	9.7181	4.30	1270
Gartlandet (Ga)	64.54513	12.379303	2.40	1343

**Table 1**: Coordinates and climatic variables for the nine studied locations. For each location, a unique 2-letter abbreviation is specified in parentheses which are used in the figures. Climate data were obtained from Horvath et al. (*Horvath et al. 2019*).

## 2.2 Culture isolation

Cultures were isolated by transferring a small piece of tissue from inside of the sporocarps to 9 cm Petri dishes containing 2% malt extract agar (MEA) with antibiotics (ampicillin 33 mg/l, streptomycin 8.3 mg/l, tetracyclin 3 mg/l) and the fungicide benomyl (1 mg/l). After initial growth on this media, axenic cultures were transferred to new Petri dishes with only MEA and grown at 20 °C. To ensure that sporocarps collected on the same log were not originating from the same individual, the corresponding cultures were confronted through a vegetative incompatibility test. No cultures were compatible, indicating that each culture represents a different genet. In further growth experiments, mycelial plugs of diameter 6 mm were used to inoculate new MEA plates.

#### 2.3 Growth at different temperatures

To investigate whether populations have different growth rates at different temperatures, isolates were grown at four temperatures: 5 °C, 20 °C, 28 °C, and 34 °C. Only the 36 isolates collected from *P. abies* were used in this experiment. Each condition was replicated four times, hence, 144 Petri dishes were established and monitored. Prior to incubation at different temperatures, all isolates were incubated at 20 °C for four full days, to ensure initial growth for all the isolates. The temperatures were selected based on preliminary tests, where a few isolates of *F. pinicola* were grown at minimum and maximum temperatures. At 4 °C and 37 °C, no growth where observed during a 14-day period, while minimum growth was observed at 5 °C and maximum at 34 °C. According to previous studies, optimal growth for *F. pinicola* was expected to be around 29 °C (Marković et al. 2011, Maynard et al. 2019). Hence, the selected temperatures cover the entire expected growth response curve (minimum, optimum and maximum).

## 2.4 Growth at different moisture levels

The same 36 isolates used in the temperature experiment were re-cultured and used to test potential differences in growth at variable moisture levels. MEA plates were amended with three levels of potassium chloride (KCl) to simulate different water potential (MPa) regimes: - 0.5 MPa (regular MEA without KCl), -1.5 MPa (5.4 g KCl/300 ml MEA) and -3.5 MPa (16.1 g KCl/300 ml MEA). The relationship between KCl concentration and water potential was based on previous studies (Molloy 2004). These three values of MPa were chosen based on previous studies demonstrating minimum and optimum fungal growth to fall within this range (Maynard et al. 2019). Given that -0.5 MPa is the default water potential in standard MEA, and that growth at different moisture levels were monitored at 20 °C, the same data for growth at -0.5 MPa as for growth at 20 °C, was used. Hyphal growth at different conditions of temperature and water potential were visualized using box plots (Figure 2) (Wickham 2016).

## 2.5 Decay rate at different substrates

Substrate preference was tested by inoculating wood chips of *A. incana* and *P. abies* with cultures originated from both tree species, followed by measurement of mass loss. The wood chips of size  $1 \times 1 \times 0.5$  cm<sup>3</sup> were made from dried planks of *A. incana* and *P. abies*. The

chips were individually numbered, then dried for 72 h at 78 °C in a dryer before weighting. The wood chips were then autoclaved three times at 120 °C for 20 min, thus minimizing the risk of contamination.

Eight individuals from each of the nine localities (four collected from *A. incana* and four from *P. abies*) were cultured in 15 cm Petri plates (72 cultures) with MEA for 14 d at 20 °C. Thereafter, four wooden chips from each tree species were placed on top of the mycelia for inoculation. After seven weeks of incubation at 20 °C, the wood chips were removed from the cultures, any surface mycelium was scraped off the wood chips, before drying for 72 h at 78 °C. The chips were again weighted and resulting mass loss calculated. As both tree species (*A. incana* and *P. abies*) and the number of wood chips (2 x 4) were confounded in the same Petri dish, the data obtained from the decay experiment was not independent from each other and therefore did not meet the criteria for further statistical analysis to address local differences. This was established due to a high number of wood chips with unchanged mass after seven weeks incubation alongside a relative few wood chips with considerable mass loss.

## 2.6 Competitive ability

To test whether local differences in competitive ability of *F. pinicola* towards other wooddecay fungi exist, the four isolates from *P. abies* in all nine locations were confronted pairwise with four polypores: *Pycnoporellus fulgens, Antrodiella citronella, Fomitopsis rosea* and *Phellopilus nigrolimitatus*. These four species are all know to co-exist with *F. pinicola*. Inoculum of each species were placed 1 cm from the edge of the Petri plates. Over 14 weeks, the mycelial confrontations were monitored to determine whether *F. pinicola* from the nine localities demonstrate diverging competitive abilities. Confrontation were scored either as deadlock or win, the latter if mycelia from one species overgrew the other.

## 2.7 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were done using the R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team 2019). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test was performed to reveal whether significant differences in growth rates and decay ability could be found across populations. To reveal if annual mean temperature and annual precipitation (Table 1) could account for variation in growth rates observed between populations, a linear mixed effect model (LMe) (Bates et al. 2015, Pinheiro

et al. 2020) was used. To do this, the packages "lme4" and "nlme" were used (Bates et al. 2015, Pinheiro et al. 2020). A linear model with daily growth as response and climate variables as predictor served as fixed effects in the LMe model whilst locations served as random effect. Daily growth rates (mm/d) at 20 °C for all isolates (36) sampled from *P. abies* and the corresponding mass loss (mg) of *P. abies* chips were used to assess the relationship between growth and decay and correlated using a linear regression.

## 3 Results

## 3.1 Local adaptation to abiotic factors

The mean daily growth was 0.07 mm at 5 °C, 0.79 mm at 20 °C, 0.89 mm at 28 °C and 0.97 mm at 34 °C. Isolates from two locations (Voss and Orkanger) showed maximum growth at 28 °C, while seven localities demonstrated a maximum growth at 34 °C (Figure 2A). As expected, growth increased with a rise in temperature.



**Figure 2**: The box plots summarizing daily growth of *Fomitopsis pinicola* (mm) at different temperatures (A) and water potentials (B). The y-axes show daily growth (mm) and the x-axis show nine locations from where the isolates are collected. The full names of the locations can be found in Table 1. Growth at each location is represented by measurements of four replicates of four isolates. Horizontal lines represent the median. Each box represents the 25th and 75th percentile, with whiskers 1.5 times the interquartile range above 75th percentile and below 25th percentile respectively.

A significant difference in growth rate was observed between locations at temperatures 20 °C, 28 °C and 34 °C (ANOVA, p < 0.05). Whether the variation in growth rates can be attributed to local climate differences were assessed by implementing local climate variables for each location (LMe, Table 1). Annual precipitation at the different locations was significant to the intercept between growth at 34 °C relative to 20 °C indicating that growth was precipitation dependent (LMe). The difference in growth at 20 °C and 34 °C, declined with increased annual precipitation (LMe). Hence, growth rates between locations vary significantly, and this variation is linked to the local climate.

The growth rate was strongly influenced by the water potential (Figure 2B), where minimal growth was obtained at -3.5 MPa ( $\approx 0.1$  mm), intermediate growth at -1.5 MPa ( $\approx 0.35$  mm), and maximum growth at -0.5 MPa ( $\approx 0.8$  mm) across all populations. At -3.5 MPa and -1.5 MPa there was no significant difference in growth between the locations (ANOVA, p > 0.05).

#### 3.2 Local adaptation to biotic factors

When comparing decay of *A. incana* and *P. abies* in respect to which wood species the strains originated from, decay was shown significantly affected by substrate origin (ANOVA p < 0.05). Isolates collected on *A. incana* demonstrated significantly more effective decay (39%) of *A. incana* than mycelium from *P. abies* (ANOVA p < 0.05). Isolates from *P. abies* demonstrated significantly more effective decay of *P. abies* than *A. incana* (85.31%) (ANOVA p < 0.05). *P. abies* had a significant higher mass loss across all populations compared with *A. incana*, without significant difference between host origins (Table 2, Figure 3) (ANOVA p < 0.05). This indicates that *P. abies* may be the preferred substrate regardless of phenotype. However, the 39% difference in mass loss in *A. incana* is indicative of certain phenotypes adopted toward more effective decay of *A. incana* to exist.

The relationship between daily growth (mm) and mass loss (mg) had a correlation coefficient r = 0.5 (Figure 4). The regression line illustrated a negative correlation between growth and decay. Hence, relationship between daily growth and observed decay, indicate a trade-off between growth rate and ability to decompose.

**Table 2**: A summary of the mean mass loss of wooden chips after seven weeks of decay by *Fomitopsis pinicola*. Wood chips of *Picea abies* had a significant higher mass loss across all populations compared to wood chips of *Alnus incana*. Isolates collected on *Alnus incana* had significantly higher mass loss (39.4%) of *Alnus incana* than isolates from *Picea abies*. Isolates collected on *Picea abies* demonstrated significantly higher mass loss of *Picea abies* of *Picea abies* than of *Alnus incana* (85.31%). P-values for each category was calculated using ANOVA. 144 wood chips were used in each category, except one outlier of an isolate that originated from *Alnus incana* and decayed *Picea abies* that was removed.

	A. incana mean	P. abies mean	Difference in	P-value
	mass loss (%)	mass loss (%)	mass loss (%)	
Isolate originated from A. incana	9.9 (N=144)	14.46 (N=143)	37.4	p<0.05
Isolate originated from P. abies	6.64 (N=144)	16.52 (N=144)	85.3	p<0.05
Difference in mass loss (%)	39.4	13.3		
P-value	p<0.05	P>0.05		

The combative experiments between *F. pinicola* and four other polypore species showed little variation across populations (Figure 5). After 14 weeks of confrontation the outcome was either deadlock, or that *F. pinicola* was overgrowing the confronted polypore species. When *F. pinicola* was confronted with *Antrodiella citronella* and *Phellopilus nigrolimitatus*, 34 out of 36 Petri dishes with confronting mycelium (94.4%), were in both cases won by *F. pinicola*. On the contrary, when confronted with *Fomitosis rosea* and *Pycnoporellus fulgens*, the mycelial interactions ended in deadlock for all plates.



**Figure 3:** Box plot summarizing the mass loss of *Picea abies* (blue) and *Alnus incana* (orange) wood chips after wood decay by *Fomitopsis pinicola* from nine locations. The orange bar at the base of the plot indicates strains collected on *Alnus incana*, while the blue bar indicates strains collected on *Picea abies*. Horizontal lines represent the median. Each box represents the 25th and 75th percentile, with whiskers 1.5 times the interquartile range above 75th percentile and below 25th percentile respectively. The black dots represent data falling outside the interquartile range. The small panel at upper left corner indicates mean mass loss for both substrates combined for all locations. Statistical differences between the different categories were evaluated using an ANOVA test with p-value < 0.05.



Figure 4: Biplot indicating the mass loss (x-axis) versus growth (mm/day) rates (y-axis) for 36 isolates isolated from Picea abies. Each dot represents average mass loss/growth rate of four replicates. Each location is indicated by a different color, nine in total. Mass loss (%) of 144 chips of Picea abies was estimated after seven weeks of decomposition at 20 °C. The regression line (black) illustrates the negative correlation between x and y, with a correlation coefficient of 0.5.



**Figure 5**: Combative experiments in Petri dishes (9 cm) after 14 weeks of growth when *Fomitopsis pinicola* was paired with four other polypore fungi. In A and B, *Fomitopsis pinicola* has overgrown the cultures of *Antrodiella citronella* (A) and *Phellopilus nigrolimitatus* (B). C and D shows deadlock between *Fomitopsis pinicola* and *Pycnoporellus fulgens* (C) and *Fomitosis rosea* (D). *Fomitopsis pinicola* is growing on the right side of each plate in these images.

# 4 Discussion

In this study, the adaptive ability of the wood-decay fungus *Fomitopsis pinicola* collected at nine localities with a variation of climatic conditions was investigated. A diversity of experiments was set-up in order to understand which factors affect phenotypic variation in this species. Different life history traits and characteristics were evaluated, including differences in temperature and moisture tolerance, the ability to decay two different substrate types, and finally, the combative ability of the populations.

## 4.1 Local adaptation to different temperatures

The growth of F. pinicola at different temperature conditions varied significantly between locations, suggesting local adaptation to different environmental conditions. Mean annual precipitation, which varied from 733 mm to 2805 mm in the study area, significantly explained parts of the observed variation in growth rates between temperature conditions. The difference in growth rates between 20 °C and 34 °C was negatively correlated with mean annual precipitation. This result indicates less responsiveness to rise in temperature among isolates from locations with high annual precipitation levels. Similar patterns have been observed in other fungi. For instance, in the barley pathogen (*Rhynchosporium commune*), selection for high growth rate is suggested weaker in populations with stable climate, while rapid growth is favored by selection to compensate for shorter growth periods governed by climate fluctuations (Stefansson et al. 2013). Given that annual mean precipitation is an order of magnitude more variable than temperature in the study area, isolates from locations with high annual precipitation levels e.g. Voss and Brekke, can be argued less dependent on rapid growth, as these locations in general offers longer periods with stable moisture levels above what is needed for continuous growth. On the contrary, isolates from locations with low annual precipitation levels e.g. Valdres and Haltdalen, may benefit from increased responsiveness to temperature as they may experience less time where both temperature and moisture conditions enables growth.

Interestingly, populations of *R. commune* populations from habitats with high climatic variability is observed to have less genetic variation than populations from more stable climatic habitats (Stefansson et al. 2013). The same trend has been found in common garden experiments with insects, *Callosobruchus maculatus* (Hallsson and Björklund 2012)

and *Drosophila melanogaster* (Pélabon et al. 2010). Thus, isolates from locations with short growth periods (corresponding to locations with low annual precipitation in my study), might have been under stronger directional selection for more rapid growth, than isolates from locations with longer growing seasons (locations with high annual precipitation). Whether genetic variability among *F. pinicola* populations correlates with climatic variability is therefore an interesting research perspective to investigate further. Given the vast difference between seasons in the study area, and that only two factors (annual temperature and precipitation) was accounted for in this study, further research addressing other climate factors, or the interactions between them, may also provide further insight into how growth relates to temperature and precipitation. However, my results support the hypothesis that climatic variation in the study area has led to local adaptations in growth rates in *F. pinicola* (H1).

### 4.2 Local adaptation to different moisture levels

The difference in growth at -3.5 MPa and -1.5 MPa were not significant between locations. Stress-tolerance to different moisture levels is dependent on various life-history traits. Under highly favorable conditions, characterized by e.g. warm and rainy seasons, genotypes with low stress tolerance but rapid growth enhancing highly competitive abilities, may be selected for. In more stressful conditions, selection might rather favor dense hyphal growth, enhancing stress tolerance at the expense of competitive abilities (Maynard et al. 2019).

Stress-tolerance is historically known to negatively correlate with growth rate in plants, such as described in Grimes C-S-R triangle (Grime 1977). Several studies, including Grime himself have suggested that fungal life strategies are comparable to plants (Rogers 1989, Maynard et al. 2019, Grime 1977). One study found that fungal species with high optimum temperature and rapid growth generally show a narrow moisture-niche width i.e. range of moisture levels, exhibiting  $\geq$  50% of their maximum growth rate (Maynard et al. 2019). They found that a moisture niche width, where 50% of maximum growth rate was obtained within the range of -0.5 MPa to -2.0 MPa is considered wide, while a narrow moisture niche is between -0.5 MPa and -1.0 MPa (Maynard et al. 2019). Further, they found that optimum temperature around 28 °C with a daily growth rate around 0.7 mm/day was typical for most of the 22 saprotrophic fungi species sampled from a broad geographical range of environments (Maynard et al. 2019). Given that *F. pinicola* demonstrates an approximate

moisture niche ranging between -0.5 and -1 MPa, F. pinicola can be characterized as fungi with a relative narrow moisture niche width. Further, our observation of 1 mm growth per day at 34 °C, supported by an optimum growth temperature around 29 °C (Marković et al. 2011), F. pinicola is arguably a species with relative rapid growth at a relatively high optimum temperature. In Grimes C-S-R triangle, this means that F. pinicola, can be placed toward the R-selected (Ruderal strategy). Consequently, evolutionary constraints may explain why stress tolerance across different moisture levels did not vary between the locations, as the values tested may have been outside the moisture niche width, and hence too extreme to reveal local differences. The moisture width tested in this study were more appropriate to reveal adaptive divergence for fungi closer to the S-selected end of Grimes C-S-R triangle. To reveal local adaptation to varying moisture levels, I suggest that the moisture niche width of the given fungi is first defined before conducting the experiment. Even though no difference between isolates collected at different localities were observed in the moisture experiments, growth at different temperatures was dependent on precipitation. Thus, some dependency on moisture levels was observed, and if grown at different temperatures as well as different moisture levels, one might see a different result.

# 4.3 Adaptation to effective decay of either conifer or deciduous woody substrates

When comparing the decay efficiency of *F. pinicola* growing on *A. incana* and *P. abies* in respect to which wood species the strains originated from, I found that decay is apparently affected by substrate origin. This finding is in line with previous studies showing that *F. pinicola* strains sampled from deciduous and conifer hosts exhibit variation in both growth and wood decay rate (Dresch et al. 2015). *Alnus incana* wood chips showed 39% more mass loss when decomposed by isolates collected on *A. incana* than isolates collected on *P. abies*. In opposite, isolates from *P. abies* demonstrated 85% more mass loss of *P. abies* wood chips than *A. incana* wood chips. Unfortunately, the experimental set-up lead to non-independent mass loss measurements, thus the significance toward local differences could not be calculated. However, it is highly unlikely that these clear patterns occurred at random. Hence, these results indicate that effective decay, of either conifer or deciduous wood substrates, is an adapted trait. Thus, this result supports H2, that *F. pinicola* adapts to different substrates.

Since the obtained data did not meet the criteria for statistical analysis addressing local differences, I suggest a different approach for future experiments, using one wood chip per Petri dish, instead of eight wood chips, is more likely to generate independent data. By doing so, local climate can be implemented as a factor, enabling testing of local differences in wood decay efficiency. Moreover, decay rate of *F. pinicola* is previously shown to vary between temperatures, and humidity levels (Venugopal et al. 2016). Also, optimal temperature for growth is shown to differ when *F. pinicola* originated from *P. abies* are being compared with *A. incana* (Dresch et al. 2015). Hence, the results may have provided further insight if decay was measured at several temperatures and water potentials.

Quality of wood has been shown significant in terms of decay rate (Venugopal et al. 2016). In one study, decomposition from F. pinicola was shown significantly affected by the quality of the wood, defined as the number of annual rings per  $cm^3$ . Hence, a fast-growing *P. abies*, may decompose faster than a slow growing A. incana and vice versa. Based on field observations, I expected that A. incana would decompose at a faster rate than P. abies. Surprisingly, the opposite was observed. Given that the wood chips from P. abies used in the decay experiment had considerably fewer annual rings per cm, than the chips from A. incana, the wood used in this study represented rather different growth rates. Hence, the wood quality used in this study was different, which may influence the results. A noteworthy difference, as global warming is likely to induce faster growth of trees, lowering the wood quality, which may in turn lead to faster decomposition (Venugopal et al. 2016). Hence, further research regarding substrate preferences in F. pinicola can potentially provide valuable insight to how climate change affects the global carbon cycle through altered decomposition rates. The results from my study, as well as observations made by others (Dresch et al. 2015, Venugopal et al. 2016), suggest that F. pinicola is likely to thrive at higher temperatures, and might be capable to outcompete other wood-decay fungi, as other temperate wood-decay fungi often are less competitive than F. pinicola (Venugopal et al. 2016). Thus, if global warming proceeds as predicted, general wood quality may decrease, and consequently F. pinicola can be even more widespread.

# 4.4 Trade-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition

A negative correlation between growth and decay, indicative of an underlying trade-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition was observed. Although the data quality obtained for the decay experiment did not meet the requirements (non-independence) for revealing significance in local differences, the pattern observed may still provide insight to evaluate whether *F. pinicola* is trading-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition.

At the genetic level, functional genes regulating fungal decomposition (specifically breakdown of cellulose and lignin) is shown negatively associated with genes promoting stress tolerance (Treseder and Lennon 2015). This is further supported by comparing life history trade-offs between 34 saprotrophic fungi species across North America (Lustenhouwer et al. 2020). The authors found that decomposition rates strongly align with dominance-tolerance, supporting that life-history strategies of fungi fit Grimes C-S-R theory, originally developed for plants (Grime 1977). Simplified: R-selected fungi grow rapidly while exploiting available sugars, and as the supply of soluble carbohydrate declines, mycelial growth cease while initiating sporocarp production (Grime 1977). C-selected fungi are evolved to live extreme long lives by cover large areas (Grime 1977), such as Armillaria mellea that produces rhizomorphs that may spread from infected trees over to healthy ones (Rishbeth 1968). S-selected fungi are characterized by slow growth and decay rate, but stressresistant evolved to remain over long-periods toward the terminal stages of fungal succession on decaying matter (Grime 1977). There can thus be a positive correlation between growth and decay in R-selected fungi, and a negative correlation between growth and decay, paid for by higher stress-tolerance, in S-selected fungi. Considering the R-selected traits demonstrated by F. pinicola, and a previous description of F. pinicola as a relatively rapid wood decomposer (Venugopal et al. 2016), one should expect F. pinicola to demonstrate a positive correlation between growth and decay. Yet, a negative correlation was observed. Hence, the negative correlation between growth and decay observed in F. pinicola contradict its general life history traits but confirm the hypothesis that: F. pinicola is experiencing a trade-off between vegetative growth and substrate decomposition (H3).

## 4.5 Local adaptation towards combative abilities

When comparing the combative abilities of *F. pinicola* from different locations towards four competing polypore species, no difference among locations were observed after 14 weeks of confrontation. Combative ability of nine white rot fungal species was recently shown to be affected by both substrate size and on the successional stage they naturally occur (Fukasawa et al. 2020). In addition, wood decay was slower in the stressful conditions close to the combative zone (Fukasawa et al. 2020). Hence, competition under other conditions, as confrontations on woody substrate or stressed by temperature or water potential, could have improved the evaluation of the competitive ability of *F. pinicola*. Thus, further research is needed before confirming or rejecting whether local climate in the study area affect the competitive ability of *F. pinicola* (H4).

## 4.6 Local adaptation or non-genetic effects?

Local adaptation is about genetic differentiation. Hence, differences observed in a common garden experiment should be interpreted with caution, as differences, may be due to nongenetic effects such as plasticity and maternal effects (Kawecki and Ebert 2004). Further, it should be noted that environmental heterogeneity often favors the evolution of adaptive phenotypic plasticity (Baythavong 2011). In absence of costs and constraints on plasticity, a genotype that in each habitat produces the locally optimal phenotype can become fixed (Baythavong 2011). A fixation of which, leads to adaptive phenotypic differentiation, without underlying genetic differentiation (Stinchcombe and Hoekstra 2008). Given the wide distribution of F. pinicola, across heterogeneous environmental conditions in Norway, adaptive phenotypic differentiation does not seem entirely unlikely. In several species, higher genetic variation has been observed among populations residing under stable climatic conditions, as compared to populations where the climate varies extensively (Pélabon et al. 2010, Stefansson et al. 2013, Hallsson and Björklund 2012). A logic next step would thus be to analyse genome-wide genetic variation across populations from different climate and link the observed phenotypic differences to underlying genetic polymorphisms. A comparison arguably justified, as the results presented in this study, strongly indicate climatic variability and habitat (substrate) requirements to affect evolution of local adaptation in F. pinicola.

## References

- Aitken, S. N., Yeaman, S., Holliday, J. A., Wang, T., and Curtis-McLane, S. 2008.
   "Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations." *Evolutionary Applications* 1:95-111.
- Baldrian, P., Bradford, M., Warren, R., Crowther, T., Maynard, D., Oldfield, E., Wieder, W., Wood, S., and King, J. 2014. "Climate fails to predict wood decomposition at regional scales." *Nature Climate Change* 4:625-630.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B., and Walke, S. 2015. "Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4." *Journal of Statistical Software* 67:1-48.
- Baughman, O. W., Agneray, A. C., Forister, M. L., Kilkenny, F. F., Espeland, E. K., Fiegener, R., Horning, M. E., Johnson, R. C., Kaye, T. N., Ott, J., St. Clair, J. B., and Leger, E. A. 2019. "Strong patterns of intraspecific variation and local adaptation in Great Basin plants revealed through a review of 75 years of experiments." *Ecology and Evolution* 9:6259-6275.
- Baythavong, B. S. 2011. "Linking the spatial scale of environmental variation and the evolution of phenotypic plasticity: selection favors adaptive alasticity in fine-grained environments." *The American Naturalist* 178:75-87.
- Crowther, T. W., Maynard, D. S., Crowther, T. R., Peccia, J., Smith, J. R., and Bradford, M. A. 2014. "Untangling the fungal niche: the trait-based approach." *Frontiers in microbiology* 5:579-579.
- Dresch, P., D'Aguanno, M., Rosam, K., Grienke, U., Rollinger, J., and Peintner, U. 2015. "Fungal strain matters: colony growth and bioactivity of the European medicinal polypores *Fomes fomentarius*, *Fomitopsis pinicola* and *Piptoporus betulinus*." *AMB Express* 5.
- Fukasawa, Y., Gilmartin, E. C., Savoury, M., and Boddy, L. 2020. "Inoculum volume effects on competitive outcome and wood decay rate of brown- and white-rot basidiomycetes." *Fungal Ecology* 45:100938.
- Grime, J. P. 1977. "Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory." *The American Naturalist* 111 (982):1169-1194.
- Hallsson, L. R., and Björklund, M. 2012. "Selection in a fluctuating environment leads to decreased genetic variation and facilitates the evolution of phenotypic plasticity." J Evol Biol 25:1275-90.
- Hendry, A. P., Farrugia, T. J., and Kinnison, M. T. 2008. "Human influences on rates of phenotypic change in wild animal populations." *Molecular Ecology* 17:20-29.

- Hijmans, R. J., Cameron, S. E., Parra, J. L., Jones, P. G., and Jarvis, A. 2005. "Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas." *International Journal of Climatology* 25:1965-1978.
- Högberg, N., Holdenrieder, O., and Stenlid, J. 1999. "Population structure of the wood decay fungus *Fomitopsis pinicola*." *Heredity* 83:354-360.
- Horvath, P., Halvorsen, R., Stordal, F., Tallaksen, L. M., Tang, H., and Bryn, A. 2019.
  "Distribution modelling of vegetation types based on area frame survey data." *Applied Vegetation Science* 22:547-560.
- Hughes, L. 2000. "Biological consequences of global warming: is the signal already apparent?" *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 15:56-61.
- Kawecki, T. J., and Ebert, D. 2004. "Conceptual issues in local adaptation." *Ecology Letters* 7:1225-1241.
- Lustenhouwer, N, Maynard, D. S., Bradford, M. A., Lindner, D. L., Oberle, B., Zanne, A. E., and Crowther, T. W. 2020. "A trait-based understanding of wood decomposition by fungi." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117:201909166.
- Marković, M., Rajkovic, S., Mirić, M., Mitić, D., Milovanovic, J., and Tabakovic-Tosic, M. 2011. "Colonization of the substrate of wood-decaying fungi *Fomitopsis pinicola* (Sw.:Fr.) P. Karst. isolated from beech and fir under controlled temperature and pH conditions." *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 20:583-589.
- Maynard, D. S., Bradford, M. A., Covey, K. R., Lindner, D., Glaeser, J., Talbert, D. A., Tinker, P. J., Walker, D. M., and Crowther, T. W. 2019. "Consistent trade-offs in fungal trait expression across broad spatial scales." *Nature Microbiology* 4:846-853.
- Molloy, S. 2004. "Sugar transport and water relations of agaricus bisporus." PhD, Cranfeld University.
- Olson-Manning, C. F., Wagner, M. R., and Mitchell-Olds, T. 2012. "Adaptive evolution: evaluating empirical support for theoretical predictions." *Nature Reviews Genetics* 13:867-877.
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P., Kurz, W., Phillips, O., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S., Canadell, J., Ciais, P., Jackson, R., Pacala, S., McGuire, A., Piao, S., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S., and Hayes, D. 2011. "A Large and Persistent Carbon Sink in the World's Forests." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 333:988-93.
- Pecl, G. T., Araújo, M. B., Bell, J. D., Blanchard, J., Bonebrake, T. C., Chen, I. C., Clark, T. D., Colwell, R. K., Danielsen, F., Evengård, B., Falconi, L., Ferrier, S., Frusher, S., Garcia, R. A., Griffis, R. B., Hobday, A. J., Janion-Scheepers, C., Jarzyna, M. A., Jennings, S., Lenoir, J., Linnetved, H. I., Martin, V. Y., McCormack, P. C., McDonald, J., Mitchell, N. J., Mustonen, T., Pandolfi, J. M., Pettorelli, N., Popova, E., Robinson, S. A., Scheffers, B. R., Shaw, J. D., Sorte, C. J. B., Strugnell, J. M., Sunday, J. M., Tuanmu, M. N, Vergés, A., Villanueva, C., Wernberg, T., Wapstra, E.,

and Williams, S. E. 2017. "Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being." *Science* 355:eaai9214.

- Pélabon, C., Hansen, T., Carter, A., and Houle, D. 2010. "Evolution of variation and variability under fluctuating, stabilizing, and disruptive selection." *Evolution; international journal of organic evolution* 64:1912-25.
- Piao, S., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Peylin, P., Reichstein, M., Luyssaert, S., Margolis, H., Fang, J., Barr, A., Chen, A., Grelle, A., Hollinger, D. Y., Laurila, T., Lindroth, A., Richardson, A. D., and Vesala, T. 2008. "Net carbon dioxide losses of northern ecosystems in response to autumn warming." *Nature* 451:49-52.
- Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., and Team, R Core. 2020. "nlme: Linear and nonlinear mixed effects models ".
- R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing R Foundation for Statistical Computing Vienna, Austria
- Radchuk, V., Reed, T., Teplitsky, C., van de Pol, M., Charmantier, A., Hassall, C., Adamík, P., Adriaensen, F., Ahola, M. P., Arcese, P., Miguel Avilés, J., Balbontin, J., Berg, K., Borras, A., Burthe, S., Clobert, J., Dehnhard, N., de Lope, F., Dhondt, A. A., Dingemanse, N. J., Doi, H., Eeva, T., Fickel, J., Filella, L., Fossøy, F., Goodenough, A. E., Hall, S. J. G., Hansson, B., Harris, M., Hasselquist, D., Hickler, T., Joshi, J., Kharouba, H., Martínez, J. G., Mihoub, J. B., Mills, J. A., Molina, M, M, Moksnes, A., Ozgul, A., Parejo, D., Pilard, P., Poisbleau, M., Rousset, F., Rödel, M. O, Scott, D., Senar, J. C., Stefanescu, C., Stokke, B. G., Kusano, T., Tarka, M., Tarwater, C. E., Thonicke, K., Thorley, J., Wilting, A., Tryjanowski, P., Merilä, J., Sheldon, B. C., Pape, M. A., Matthysen, E., Janzen, F., Dobson, F. S., Visser, M. E., Beissinger, S. R., Courtiol, A., and Kramer, S, S. 2019. "Adaptive responses of animals to climate change are most likely insufficient." *Nature Communications* 10:3109.
- Rishbeth, J. 1968. "The growth rate of Armillaria mellea." Transactions of the British Mycological Society 51:575-586.
- Rogers, R. W. 1989. "Colonization, growth, and survival strategies of lichens on leaves in a subtropical rainforest." *Australian Journal of Ecology* 14:327-333.
- Ryvarden, L., and Gilbertson, R.L. 1993. "European polypores. Part 1." Synopsis fungorum 6.
- Stefansson, T. S., McDonald, B. A., and Willi, Y. 2013. "Local adaptation and evolutionary potential along a temperature gradient in the fungal pathogen *Rhynchosporium commune*." *Evol Appl* 6:524-34.
- Stinchcombe, J. R., and Hoekstra, H. E. 2008. "Combining population genomics and quantitative genetics: finding the genes underlying ecologically important traits." *Heredity* 100:158-170.
- Treseder, K. K., and Lennon, J. T. 2015. "Fungal traits that drive ecosystem dynamics on land." *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR* 79:243-262.

- van der Wal, A., Veen, J., Smant, W., Boschker, H., Bloem, J., Kardol, P., Putten, W., and de Boer, W. 2006. "Fungal biomass development in a chronosequence of land abandonment." *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 38:51-60.
- Venugopal, P., Junninen, K., Linnakoski, R., Edman, M., and Kouki, J. 2016. "Climate and wood quality have decayer-specific effects on fungal wood decomposition." *Forest Ecology and Management* 360:341-351.
- Wickham, Hadley. 2016. ggplot2:Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis Springer-Verlang New York
- Zheng, W., Lehmann, A., Ryo, M., Vályi, K. K., and Rillig, M. C. 2018. "Growth rate trades off with enzymatic investment in soil filamentous fungi." *bioRxiv*:360511.